ORIGINAL

PILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 12 19974 CLERK, By, Civel Deputy Clerk

Case No.: 91,822

JAMES L. COTTLE, Petitioner,

v.

2

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JAMES T. MILLER, ESQUIRE 920 Blackstone Building 233 E. Bay Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 791-8824

FLORIDA BAR NO: 0293679

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below contains the relevant facts for this appeal. (See Appendix I -Opinion of Fifth District Court of Appeal and Order Denying Motion for Rehearing and Request for Certification). On September 5, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion. On October 6, 1997, it issued an order denying Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing and Request for Certification.

Petitioner filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. Petitioner raised several issues but the Fifth District Court of Appeal addressed only one issue in its opinion: trial counsel failed to relay a plea offer to Petitioner - in exchange for a guilty plea to the charged offenses, the State would not seek sentencing under the habitual offender statute. Petitioner alleged that he would have accepted this plea offer.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that Petitioner's claim was legally insufficient because he failed to allege that the trial court would have accepted the plea offer. Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and request for certification. (Appendix II - Motion for Rehearing and Request for Certification) Petitioner alleged that the decision in this case directly conflicted with the decision in <u>Seymore v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); <u>Hilligenn v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); <u>Abella v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) These cases held that if a defendant alleged that counsel failed to relay a plea offer which the

defendant would have accepted (and which would have received a lesser sentence)then the Defendant had made a sufficient prima facie claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Petitioner also alleged that the standard established by the Fifth District Court of Appeal could be an impossible burden for a Petitioner also alleged trial counsel could be defendant; ineffective and a defendant could not have an effective remedy under the standard established in this case. Petitioner also argued that how could he allege the trial court would have accepted the plea offer, when the offer was not relayed to the defendant? If the offer was not relayed to the defendant, then the court may never learn of the plea offer. A defendant may suffer under this standard even if the trial court would have accepted the offer. Petitioner asked the Fifth District to certify this cause to this Court or to rehear and reconsider its decision. The Fifth District Court of Appeal denied Petitioner's motions without reason or comment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review this cause pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) Fla.R.App.P. The decision in this case directly conflicts with the decisions in <u>Seymore v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) and <u>Hillgenn v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The decision in this case directly conflicts with decisions of the First and Second District Courts of Appeal on the issue of what must a defendant allege in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim involving failure to relay a plea offer.

The decision in this case directly conflicts with the decisions in <u>Seymore v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) and <u>Hillgenn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). These cases did not hold, like this case, that a defendant must allege that the trial court would have accepted a plea offer which defendant alleges defense counsel failed to relay to defendant. These cases do not require such an allegation because it may be impossible to prove such a fact, even if the trial court would have accepted the offer. These cases reflect the common sense reasoning that a defendant will not be able to prove such a fact because if the plea offer was not relayed to defendant for acceptance of rejection, the trial court would never have learned of the offer. Then how can a defendant prove the court would have accepted the offer?

The decision in <u>Seymore</u>, supra, <u>Lee</u>, supra, and <u>Hilligenn</u>, supra, held that if the defendant alleged 1) counsel failed to relay a plea offer; 2) defendant would have accepted the offer and; 3) <u>if</u> accepted, the offer would have resulted in a lesser sentence than the sentence actually imposed upon the defendant, then there was a sufficient facial allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel. The decision in this case directly

I.

conflicts with these cases because this case requires the additional allegation that the trial court would have accepted the offer.

The decision in this case will deny a defendant his constitutional right to allege and prove ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to relay a plea offer. Under the standard enunciated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, no defendant who is unaware of a plea offer will be able to allege ineffective assistance of counsel. A trial court must be aware of a plea offer before the court can accept or reject it. If the court accepts the offer, the court will determine if the defendant will accept or reject it. However, if the State and defense counsel engage in plea negotiations, but the defense counsel does not relay the offer to the defendant, then the trial court (as in this case) may never learn of the offer. This Court should resolve the conflict between this case and <u>Seymore</u>, <u>Lee</u>, and <u>Hilligenn</u> and correct the fundamentally flawed and unfair decision in this cause.

CONCLUSION

This Court should accept jurisdiction in this case to resolve the conflict between this case and <u>Seymore v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) and <u>Hillgenn v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).