SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case. There is no express and direct conflict contained in the Fifth District Court's opinion. There is nothing more than a factual difference between this case and other factually distinguishable cases. Both of the other two districts which Petitioner cites are in conflict have followed the Fifth District's analysis on this very issue. There is no conflict among the districts, and therefore, this Court should deny review.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE BECAUSE NO GROUNDS EXIST FOR SUCH JURISDICTION.

This court's jurisdiction is defined by Article V of the Florida Constitution (1991). Article V, §3(b) expressly sets out this court's jurisdiction, describing every situation in which this court has or may take jurisdiction. Art. V, §3(b), Fla. Const. (1991). That jurisdiction is also set out in Rule 9.030(a) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

While Petitioner has attempted to invoke this court's jurisdiction based on "express and direct conflict", this case fails to qualify on that ground. In 1980, Article V was amended to limit the Florida Supreme Court's discretionary jurisdiction in cases involving conflict. Rule 9.030 was likewise revised to incorporate the constitutional amendment. The Committee Notes to Rule 9.030, in discussing the 1980 amendment make it clear that the amendment was intended to reduce the "burgeoning caseload" that the Court handles.

The Committee Note, referring to conflict cases, states that "[t]hese cases comprised the overwhelming bulk of the court's caseload and gave rise to an intricate body of case law

interpreting the requirements for discretionary conflict review."

For this reason, Article V and Rule 9.030 were amended to require

a showing of an "express" as well as a "direct" conflict in order

to invoke jurisdiction.

In the instant case, Petitioner does not even allege that there is "express" conflict. He only claims "direct" conflict between the instant opinion and three other district court opinions. Without alleging or attempting to show "express" conflict, Petitioner fails to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction as delineated by the statute and the rule.

Furthermore, the written opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal filed September 5, 1997 shows no express and direct conflict with any other court. (See attached opinion). Clearly, nowhere in the opinion does the District Court express that there is conflict between its decision and any other court. Nor does the opinion cite to any case which is in direct conflict with either the DCA's ruling or the issue presented.

Petitioner cites to three cases which he claims conflict with the opinion in the instant case. However, each of the cited cases contains nothing more than factual distinctions, which create neither conflict nor confusion.

The issue discussed in the Fifth District's Cottle opinion

revolves around Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to disclose a plea offer before trial. The Fifth District's opinion correctly discusses the law regarding the burden of proof necessary to establish a cause for relief for ineffective assistance. The court states that the defendant must be able to prove prejudice -- a correct statement of the requirements of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The Fifth District then points out that in order to prove prejudice for failure to disclose a plea offer, a defendant must be able to prove that his sentence would have been lesser than the one he got. Again, that is a correct statement of the Strickland requirement.

The factual difference which sets the instant case apart from the three cases cited by Petitioner is that, in the instant case, Petitioner failed to allege anything that would have proven prejudice -- i.e. that the judge would have accepted the plea offer. The Fifth District's analysis in the instant case is case specific with regard to the requirement of proving that the trial judge would have accepted the offer.

In each of the cases cited by Petitioner, the facts were such as to satisfy the proof requirement. In Lee v. State, 677 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the plea offer included a plea to reduced charges, which would have resulted in a lesser sentence by virtue

of the reduced charges. The allegation was sufficient on its face to require the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing.

Likewise, in Seymore v. State, 693 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), the plea offer would have allowed the defendant to get a prison term ranging from 30 months to 3 ½ years as opposed to the 20-year habitual sentence that he got. It is clear that the claim in that case included an allegation "that acceptance of the offer would have resulted in a shorter prison term than the [] sentence he ultimately received." Id. That allegation was sufficient to require the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing.

In Hilligenn v. State, 660 So.2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), it is extremely difficult to determine what the actual and full allegations were -- the opinion is very brief. It is hard to see how this opinion can be in direct conflict with the instant case, with so little discussion of either facts or law. However, what is very clear in that opinion is the district court's instruction to the trial court that it may again deny the claim summarily if the court attaches portions of the record to support the summary denial. Id. So, even sufficient pleading does not preclude summary denial of the claim.

When this court examines the three cases which Petitioner cites, it is clear that there is no conflict. The Fifth District

Court of Appeal has clearly applied the correct legal standard in requiring a defendant to make sufficient allegations to show that he was prejudiced by his trial attorney's actions. When it involves the attorney's failure to disclose a plea offer, the legal test requires that the defendant allege, and ultimately prove, that if he was told the offer he would have accepted it, and that would have resulted in a lesser sentence.

In this case, the offer which the prosecutor made prior to trial involved a plea to the charges. In return, the prosecutor would agree to not seek habitual sentencing. Petitioner alleged that he would have taken that offer. However, he does not allege, nor can he prove, that he necessarily would have received a lesser sentence. The Fifth District, then, correctly held that "[b]ecause Cottle did not allege that the trial court would have accepted the terms of the allege plea offer, specifically the promise not to seek habitualization, and failed to establish that his sentence under the plea would in fact have been for a lesser term of years, his claim is legally insufficient." (emphasis added) Cottle v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly D2126 at D2127 (Fla. 5th DCA September 5, 1997).

The Fifth District's Cottle opinion is a clear and accurate application of the standards and requirements of the law relating

disclose a plea offer. The allegations as raised and presented by Petitioner to the courts below were insufficient to warrant relief, and did not require an evidentiary hearing. There is no conflict with any other court -- either express or direct.

This court, long ago, very clearly delineated the limitation on its jurisdiction which was narrowed by the 1980 constitutional amendment. In *Jenkins v. State*, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), this Court stated

The pertinent language of section 3(b)(3), as amended April 1, 1980, leaves no room for doubt. Court may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. dictionary definitions of the term "express" include: "to represent in words"; "to give expression to." "Expressly" is defined; Webster's Third express manner." New International Dictionary, (1961 ed. unabr.).

(emphasis in original) *Id*. at 1359 This court further added that "[i]t is conflict of **decisions**, not conflict of **opinions** or **reasons** that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." (emphasis in original) *Id*.

It is evident on the face of the published opinion that there

is no "express" conflict. Similarly, there is no "direct" conflict created by the court's explanation of the legal standard and burden of proof. Both the constitution and Rule 9.030 require that the "express and direct" conflict be obvious. Since neither is present here, this court should decline to take jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein,
Respondent respectfully asks this honorable court to deny
jurisdiction in this matter.